# 2009-IA-01472-SUTT

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Dakari Ronies Shaw, Plaintiff and Appellee

Mississippi Department of Mental Health, Defendant and Appellant

Ellisville State School, Defendant and Appellant

Eugene Tullos, counsel for the Plaintiff and Appellee

Wayne Easterling, counsel for the Plaintiff and Appellee

William N. Graham, counsel for the Defendants and Appellants

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1.

Does the discretionary function exemption of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act set forth in MISS CODE ANN. §11-46-9(1)(d) (Supp. 2009) bar Dakari Ronies Shaw's claims against Ellisville State School and the Mississippi Department of Mental Health for the injuries she sustained on October 31, 2006 at the "Camp Fear" fund raising event sponsored by Ellisville State School?

2.

Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying Ellisville State School and the Mississippi Department of Mental Health's Motion for Summary Judgment based on the discretionary function exemption of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Since 2004, Ellisville State School has sponsored Camp Fear, a Halloween themed fund raising event for the benefit of residents of Ellisville State School. (R. 24-25) In 2006, funds raised by Camp Fear were used for vacation expenses for residents of Ellisville State School. (R. 24-25)

On October 31, 2006, Dakari Ronies Shaw, accompanied by her friends, tripped and fell while leaving one of the attractions at Camp Fear. Ms. Shaw sued Ellisville State School and the Mississippi Department of Mental Health for injuries she sustained in her trip and fall. (R. 3) Ellisville State School is under the jurisdiction and control of the Mississippi Department of Mental Health. MISS. CODE ANN. §41-4-11(2) (Rev. 2009).

#### COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN THE CIRCUIT COURT

Ms. Shaw filed her Complaint on January 15, 2008. (R. 3) Ellisville State School and the

Mississippi Department of Mental Health filed their Amended Answer to the Complaint on March 4, 2008 (R. 9).

In January, 2009, two current and one former employee of Ellisville State School were deposed. During the same month, Ms. Shaw and six friends who accompanied her at Camp Fear were deposed.

On March 13, 2009, Ellisville State School and the Mississippi Department of Mental Health filed their Motion for Summary Judgment, Itemization of Facts, and Memorandum of Law. (R. 15-41) This motion sought dismissal of Dakari Shaw's claims asserting that the discretionary function exemption set forth in MISS CODE ANN. §11-46-9(1)(d) (Supp. 2009) barred the Plaintiff's claims. After a hearing in the Circuit Court of Jones County, Mississippi on August 17, 2009, the Circuit Court entered its Order denying Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on August 31, 2009. (R. 93) On September 11, 2009, the Defendants filed their Petition for Permission to Appeal. On November 4, 2009, the Supreme Court entered its Order granting the Mississippi Department of Mental Health and Ellisville State School's Petition for Permission to Appeal. (R. 94)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2004, the Director of Ellisville State School, Dr. Suzie Lassiter approved recommendations by her staff to hold a fund raiser during the Halloween season to raise funds for the benefit of Ellisville State School residents. (R. 24-25) "Camp Fear", a Halloween themed attraction, which was begun in 2004 and continues to the present, charged an admission fee for entry. During Dakari Shaw's departure from one of the attractions at Camp Fear, she tripped and fell and suffered injuries to her leg. Ms. Shaw has sued the Mississippi Department of Mental Health and Ellisville State School alleging negligence. (R. 3) Ellisville State School and the Mississippi Department of Mental Health deny Ms. Shaw's claims of negligence. (R. 9)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ellisville State School and the Mississippi Department of Mental Health assert Ellisville State School's sponsorship of Camp Fear meets the established legal criteria for application of the discretionary function exemption of MISS CODE ANN. §11-46-9(1)(d) (Supp. 2009).

Approval of the Camp Fear fund raising event was a discretionary decision by the Director of Ellisville State School. The objective of Camp Fear in 2006, when Ms. Shaw was injured, was to raise funds for vacation expenses for residents of Ellisville State School. This objective is in furtherance of the social and economic policies of Ellisville State School and the Mississippi Department of Mental Health to develop, improve, and provide services and promote social well being and the general welfare of mentally ill, emotionally disturbed and mentally retarded persons of this state as set forth in MISS CODE ANN. §41-4-1 (Rev. 2009). Because Camp Fear meets the public policy function test adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court, Ms. Shaw's claim should be barred by the discretionary function exemption in MISS CODE ANN. §11-46-9(1)(d) (Supp. 2009).

#### **ARGUMENT**

Ellisville State School became subject to the jurisdiction and control of the Mississippi Department of Mental Health in 1974. MISS CODE ANN. §41-4-11(2) (Rev. 2009). The statement of purpose of the Mississippi Department of Mental Health is, in part, "to . . . develop, improve . . . and provide all services for the mentally ill, emotionally disturbed . . . and mentally retarded persons of this state; to promote, safeguard and protect. . . social well being and general welfare of these persons . . . ." MISS CODE ANN. §41-4-1 (Rev. 2009).

In 2004, Dr. Suzie Lassiter, the then Director of Ellisville State School, authorized the Camp Fear fund raising event and it was held for the first time. Camp Fear was a Halloween themed attraction during the Halloween season which charged admission for entry. Funds raised

by Camp Fear in 2006, when Ms. Shaw suffered injuries, were used for a vacation fund for Ellisville State School residents. These facts are not disputed by Ms. Shaw. (R. 26, 86)

Ms. Shaw tripped and fell when she and her friends were leaving one of the attractions at Camp Fear and Ms. Shaw suffered injuries. She claims Ellisville State School and the Mississippi Department of Mental Health's negligence caused her injuries. Ellisville State School and the Mississippi Department of Mental Health deny Ms. Shaw's claims of negligence.

#### LAW

The discretionary function exemption of MISS CODE ANN. §11-46-9(1)(d) (Supp. 2009) was discussed by this Court in detail in *Dancy v. East Mississippi State Hospital*, 944

So.2d 10 (Miss. 2006). This Court noted that the Mississippi discretionary function statutory exemption appeared to be modeled on a similar exemption in the Federal Tort Claims Act.

Dancy at 16. This Court then cited portions of the United States Supreme Court opinion in United States v. Gaubert, 499 U.S. 315, 111 S. Ct. 1267 (1991) which interpreted the discretionary function exemption in the Federal Tort Claims Act. This Court noted the United States Supreme Court held "that only those functions which by nature are policy decisions, whether made at the operational or planning level, are protected." Dancy at 16 citing Gaubert at 499 U.S. 315, 322 (1991). This Court also cited Gaubert noting "[t]he purpose of the exception is to prevent judicial second guessing of legislative and administrative decisions grounded in social, economic, and political policy through the medium of an action in tort." Dancy at 16 citing United States v. Gaubert, 499 U.S. 315, 323 (1991) other citations omitted.

This Court in *Dancy* referenced a two-part test for application of the discretionary function exemption: "(1) whether the activity involved in an element of choice or judgment; and if so, (2) whether the choice or judgment in supervision involved social, economic or political

policy alternatives." *Dancy* at 16 citing *Bridges v. Pearl River Valley Water Supply District*, 793 So.2d 584, 588 (Miss. 2001) other citations omitted.

Ellisville State School and the Mississippi Department of Mental Health would show there is no dispute as to whether or not Camp Fear was a discretionary choice. First, Camp Fear did not exist until its authorization by the Director of Ellisville State School in 2004. Also, Camp Fear was not mandated by statutes or regulations. In addition, Ms. Shaw has conceded that Camp Fear was a discretionary undertaking in her Memorandum Brief In Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. She states in her memorandum "It is true that this establishment and operation of Camp Fear involved a certain amount of discretion by officials of the Ellisville State School. (R. 88)

Ellisville State School would show the contested issue before this Court whether or not the decision to sponsor Camp Fear involves social, economic or political policy alternatives.

Ms. Shaw has cited MISS CODE ANN. §41-19-103 (1972) as providing the purpose of Ellisville State School. (R. 43) The source of the current version of MISS. CODE ANN. §41-19-103 (Rev. 2009) indicates this statute dates from 1921. The Mississippi Department of Mental Health and Ellisville State School would show MISS CODE ANN. §41-4-1 (Rev. 2009), which was enacted in 1974 is a more current statement of purpose and mission statement for these governmental entities. This statute states in part:

The purpose of this chapter is to coordinate, develop, improve, plan for, and provide all services for the mentally ill, emotionally disturbed . . . and mentally retarded persons of this state; to promote, safeguard and protect human dignity, social well-being and general welfare of these persons, under the cohesive control of one (1) coordinating a responsible agency . . . . *Id*.

The Mississippi Department of Mental Health and Ellisville State School would show funds raised at Camp Fear for vacation expenses for residents of Ellisville State School are in furtherance of the statutory policy objectives of promotion of social well being and general welfare of mentally ill, emotionally disturbed and retarded citizens of this state.

Ellisville State School and the Mississippi Department of Mental Health would show that by authorizing Camp Fear, they should be presumed to have been pursuing policy objectives.

This Court quoted *Gaubert* as follows: "[w]hen established governmental policy, as expressed or implied by statute . . . , allows a Government agent to exercise discretion, it must be presumed that the agent's acts are *grounded in policy when exercising that discretion*." *Dancy* at 18, citing *Gaubert* at 324, 111 S. Ct 1267 (emphasis added).

Ellisville State School and the Mississippi Department of Mental Health would show they meet the established legal criteria for application of the discretionary function exemption of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act set forth in §11-46-9(1)(d) (Supp. 2009). Furthermore, although a case addressing fund raising activities in a Mississippi Tort Claims Act context has not yet been decided, a wide variety of governmental actions have been held by Mississippi appellate courts to involve implementation of social, economic, or political policy. *Urban Developers, LLC v. City of Jackson, Mississippi*, 468 F.3<sup>rd</sup> 281, 306 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006). Ellisville State School and Mississippi Department of Mental Health would show a fund raiser designed to benefit residents of Ellisville State School should also be found by this Court to implement social and economic policies of these state agencies.

#### CONCLUSION

Authorization of the Camp Fear fund raising event was a discretionary decision by the Director of Ellisville State School. Money raised by Camp Fear in 2006 when Ms. Shaw fell was used for vacation expenses for residents of Ellisville State School. The Camp Fear fund raiser was in furtherance of the Mississippi Department of Mental Health and Ellisville State School's policy of developing, improving and providing services, as well as promoting social

well-being and the general welfare of mentally ill and mentally retarded persons. This policy is articulated in the statement of purpose of the Mississippi Department of Mental Health in MISS. CODE ANN. §41-4-1 (Rev. 2009).

There are no material facts in dispute concerning the application of the discretionary function exemption of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act to the circumstances of this case. The Mississippi Department of Mental Health and Ellisville State School would show that they meet the public policy function test adopted by this Court and referenced in *Dancy* and *Gaubert*.

See *Dancy* at 17 and *Gaubert* 499 U.S. 322-323. Under the law, Ms. Shaw's Complaint should

THIS the 8<sup>th</sup> day of February, 2010.

be dismissed with prejudice.