MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH and ELLISVILLE STATE SCHOOL

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

DAKARI RONIES SHAW

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE DAKARI RONIES SHAW

Oral Argument Is Not Requested

Eugene C. Tullos Post Office Box 74 Raleigh, MS 39153 (601) 782-4242

S. Wayne Easterling Post Office Box 1471 Hattiesburg, MS 3903 (601) 544-8900 Mississippi Bar Number

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH and ELLISVILLE STATE SCHOOL

APPELLANTS

APPELLEE

VERSUS

DAKARI RONIES SHAW

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Plaintiff agrees with the Statement of Issues asset forth by defendants. This is an interlocutory appeal, and the ultimate question involves whether the trial judge was correct in overruling defendants' motion for a summary judgment. Inasmuch as the plaintiff clearly stated a cause of action based upon negligence, the sole issue is whether the "discretionary function" exemption of Section 11-46-9(1)(d) of the Mississippi Code bars plaintiff's claim.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ellisville State School was established pursuant to what is now Section 41-19-103 of the Mississippi Code. At the time of the accident, that code section provided that its mission was "the care, training, employment, and custody of feeble-minded persons." In 2004, employees of the institution came up with the idea of running a commercial enterprise which they referred to as "Camp Fear." During the Halloween season of each year, the camp was operated as a commercial establishment, charging customers an admission fee, and providing them a Halloween experience to remember complete with costumed actors wielding chainsaws, fake body parts, and other fear-inducing devices. The customers were led over a several-hundred-yard course in what is essentially a pitch dark pasture area with the darkness briefly interrupted by periods of lighting sufficient to destroy any accumulated night vision. (R. 46-47, 54, 59, 60, 72) The customers

attending Camp Fear were encouraged to run in this darkened area. (R. 80) No inmates were employed or utilized in the operation of Camp Fear – its sole purpose was to raise money. (R. 46)

The cause of the accident is disputed. The plaintiff and several witnesses testified that they were told by agents of the defendants to run in a dark area and that the plaintiff stepped in a hole and fell while running. The version of the defendant is that the plaintiff was standing at the edge of a porch in the dark and was basically victimized by a "stampede" of frightened customers being chased out of a darkened cabin by a lady resembling a character in a well known horror movie. In either event, the negligence of the defendants is very clearly alleged. The operator of a commercial establishment has an obligation to provide a reasonably safe place for invitees. This obligation includes providing adequate lighting and protection from hazards such as elevated porches, holes in the ground on traveled paths, and crowd control when necessary.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The plaintiff contends that when a state institution operates an essentially commercial activity not directly related to its statutory mission, encourages the public to attend through the use of advertisements and other inducements, and charges an admission fee, then it has an obligation to furnish the public with a reasonably safe experience.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

This Court noted in *Dancy v. East Mississippi State Hospital*, 944 So.2d 10 (Miss. 2006), that Mississippi's discretionary function statute is modeled on its counter-part in the Federal Tort

Claims Act. The Court, in *Dancy, supra*, cited with approval portions of the United States Supreme Court decision in *United States v. Gaubert*, 499 US 315, 111 S. Ct. 1267 (1991), which, in turn, noted that "the purpose of the exception is to prevent judicial second guessing of legislative and administrative decisions grounded in social, economic, and political policy through the medium of an action in tort." If the action in question does not involve such policy, then the governmental agency has no exemption and stands in the same position as any other tort-feasor. Specifically, 28 U.S.C., Section 2674 states that absent immunity, the sovereign "shall be liable . . . in the same manner and to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances. . . ."

The Congressional Committee considering the federal statute listed examples of governmental torts that would not be exempt from liability under the discretionary exemption. The most commonly cited example is that of a government official driving an automobile. The usage of a vehicle in its very nature involves discretionary conduct, but it was never intended that such an example falls within the exemption. The federal cases construing this statute consider whether the act of the tort-feasor is in line with government policy and the mission of the sovereign. The Court in *Dancy, supra*, referred to this in attempting to point out this distinction and noted that the *Gaubert* decision emphasized that the exemption protects only governmental actions and decisions based upon considerations of public policy. Specifically, unless the discretion to be exercised involves "social, economic, or political policy alternatives," the exemption does not apply.

Obviously, one operating a commercial establishment not remotely connected to the statutory mission of the institution cannot take advantage of the exemption. It is true that in the

case of *Dotts v. Pat Harrison Waterway District*, 933 So.2d 322 (Miss. 2006), the Pat Harrison Waterway District was permitted to take advantage of this immunity when a swimmer drowned in the Dunn's Falls water park in Lauderdale County. However, one of the missions of the Pat Harrison Waterway District was operating swimming facilities and providing recreational opportunities to the general public. This is a far cry from the situation existing at the Ellisville State School; and that institution should not be permitted to jeopardize the safety of ordinary citizens being attracted by its advertisements and, therefore, subjecting themselves to harm by a poorly operated facility.

Thus, the legislature in passing Section 11-46-9(1)(d) of the Mississippi Code did not intend to give state agencies blanket immunity for all acts involving discretion. In fact, it is hard to imagine any act of a tort-feasor that does not involve a certain amount of discretion. It is only when those discretionary acts are related to social, economic, and political policy that the exemption apples. The operation of a commercial enterprise for a purpose outside the agency's statutory mission is not included in this action. Thus, the facts of this case are substantially different from *Bridges v. Pearl River Valley Water Supply District*, 793 So.2d 584 (Miss. 2001); *Urban Developers, LLC, v. City of Jackson, Mississippi*, 468 F.3d 281 (5th Cir. 2006); *Dancy, supra;* and *Gaubert, supra*.

Respectfully submitted,

S. WAYNE EASTERLING, Of Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellee

CERTIFICATE

A true copy of the foregoing brief has been mailed, postage prepaid, to the Honorable William N. Graham, Post Office Box 750, Hattiesburg, Mississippi 39403, attorney for appellants; and to the Honorable Billy Joe Landrum, Circuit Judge, Eighteenth Judicial District, Post Office Box 685, Laurel, Mississippi 39441, on this 22nd day of February, A.D., 2010.

S. Wayne Easterling

Eugene C. Tullos Post Office Box 74 Raleigh, Mississippi 39153 (601) 782-4242

S. Wayne Easterling Mississippi Bar Numbe Post Office Box 1471 Hattiesburg, MS 39403 (601) 544-8900